
 

 Planning Board Meeting  6/28/21 

 

 

 

 

 

Hanover Planning Board  

550 Hanover Street, Hanover, MA 02339 

Meeting Minutes - Monday, June 28, 2021 – 6:45 pm 
 

Committee Attendees   

Ken Blanchard, Vice Chairman   

Tony Cavallaro      

Bernie Campbell 

Meaghan Neville-Dunne 

David Traggorth

 

Absent 

MaryAnn Brugnoli 

Giuseppe Fornaro 
 

Other Attendees 

Christine Stickney, Town Planner 

Lisa & Dustin DeMerritt, Applicant/Pickles 

Greg Morse, Morse Engineering Company, Inc. 

Melsi Xhengo, 45 Broadway Realty Trust 

David Delaney, 78 Washington Street 

Liam Finn, 31 Broadway 

Cory Miller, 86 Oakland Avenue 

Brian Egan, 39 Broadway 

Noel Frattasio, 87 Broadway 

Daniel Bradford, 64 Oakland Avenue 
 

Opening  

Vice Chairman Ken Blanchard opened the meeting at 6:49 pm and made note the meeting was being recorded. 
 

Review of Meeting Minutes  

The Board voted to approve the meeting minutes from June 14, 2021 with the following addition:   
 

 Board member Giuseppe Fornaro and Mr. Morse both confirmed the purchase of the strip of land via online 

records at the Registry of Deeds.      Roll Call Vote:  

          Ken Blanchard – Yes 

          Bernie Campbell – Yes 

          Meaghan Neville-Dunne – Yes 

          David Traggorth - Yes 

          Tony Cavallaro - Yes 
 
Hearing – Special Permit & Site Plan Review – 357 Columbia Road (Pickles) – PB 21-6 

The Board opened a public hearing for 357 Columbia Road (Pickles) further identified as Map 65 Lot 69. The 

applicant is requesting a special permit and site plan review for the development of four (4) outdoor pickle ball 

courts, drainage and other related site amenities. Board member Meaghan Neville-Dunne read the hearing notice 

into the record. The Vice Chair reviewed all documents submitted. The Vice Chair asked the applicants, Lisa & 

Dustin DeMerritt, if their project engineer was also present. Lisa DeMerritt stated she was unaware the engineer 

should attend the meeting and explained the proposed project to add the four (4) outdoor courts. Ms. DeMerritt 

stated there is no additional lighting for the outdoor courts being proposed. Town Planner Christine Stickney read 

the comments of the Hanover Fire Department into the record and stated they have been met. Ms. Stickney also 

stated the drainage calculations are acceptable, and the outdoor café was approved by the Board of Selectmen. Board 

member David Traggorth suggested the idea of placing the four outdoor courts in the existing parking area instead 



 

 Planning Board Meeting  6/28/21 

of the left side of the building. Mr. Traggorth stated this would keep the current amount of impervious surface the 

same and save on leaf clean up on the courts as well as utilize the existing parking area lighting. Ms. DeMerritt 

stated placing the outdoor courts in the existing parking area was the initial idea; however, it was not cost effective 

due to a large grade change in the parking area. Mr. Traggorth also asked if additional outdoor courts are planned 

for the future. Ms. DeMerritt stated no, only the four being requested. Board member Meaghan Neville-Dunne 

stated the Board could benefit from a presentation from the project engineer especially considering the property is in 

the Aquifer Protection Zone. Board member Bernie Campbell asked if a viewing area is planned for the outdoor 

courts. Ms. DeMerritt stated no. Ms. Stickney stated no permitting from the Conservation Commission is required 

because the property is not within the resource area. The Vice Chair stated he would prefer to continue the hearing 

so a presentation can be heard from the project engineer. Ms. Stickney stated she will also prepare a draft decision to 

review at the next hearing. Ms. DeMerritt stated she will have the engineer at the next meeting.  The Vice Chair 

opened the floor to public comment, seeing and hearing none. The Board voted to continue the hearing to July 12, 

2021 at 7 PM.         Roll Call Vote: 

         Ken Blanchard – Yes 

         Bernie Campbell – Yes 

         Meaghan Neville-Dunne – Yes 

         David Traggorth – Yes 

         Tony Cavallaro - Yes 

 

Continuation - Hearing – Definitive Subdivision Review – Nathan’s Hill Estates – PB 21-2 

The Board continued with a public hearing for 45 Broadway Realty Trust for a proposed six (6) lot subdivision 

serviced by a 700’ linear foot roadway with drainage and roadway appurtenances that will access at 45 Broadway. 

The property is zoned Residence A and is further identified as Map 49 Lot 3 and Map 57 Lot 27. Town Planner 

Christine Stickney stated the waivers being requested have been modified with two (2) being withdrawn and one (1) 

added. Ms. Stickney also stated a draft decision is included in the Board’s materials. Board member Meaghan 

Neville-Dunne read an email into the record from Cory Miller of 86 Oakland Avenue. Mr. Miller is questioning 

whether the proposed road should be considered a major road. Ms. Stickney stated her opinion that the proposed 

road is a minor road. Project Engineer Greg Morse of Morse Engineering Company Inc. stated the proposed road is a 

minor road and read the section of the bylaw regarding this. Mr. Miller stated he agrees the level of traffic is a minor 

road but the bylaw states the “principal entrance to a subdivision” should be a major road. Mr. Miller questioned 

what happens if the subdivision grows in the future. The Vice Chair stated the Board can only review the project 

currently before them, and Ms. Stickney stated any growth in the future would require an additional public hearing. 

Ms. Stickney stated at this time the Board can vote on each individual waiver being requested if they choose.   

 

The Board voted to accept the withdrawal request for a waiver #4 to reduce the road width from the required 26 feet 

to 24 feet.         Roll Call Vote: 

         Ken Blanchard – Yes 

         Bernie Campbell – Yes 

         Meaghan Neville-Dunne – Yes 

 

The Board voted to accept the withdrawal request for waiver #6 to replace the require granite curbing with Cape 

Cod berm.        Roll Call Vote: 

         Ken Blanchard – Yes 

         Bernie Campbell – Yes 

         Meaghan Neville-Dunne – Yes 

 



 

 Planning Board Meeting  6/28/21 

#1 Waiver Request – Requirement - Vertical curves are required when the change in profile grade exceeds one (1) 

percent. The length of vertical curve shall be designed to provide a minimum sight distance of two hundred (200) 

feet to an object six (6) inches above the roadway surface from an eye height of three feet, nine inches (3.75 

feet). The sight distances shall be shown on the proposed street profiles.  Requested – The length of the first two 

vertical curves on the proposed roadway have been designed to provide a sight distance of one hundred (100) feet.  

The Vice Chair asked for any public comments regarding the above waiver. Cory Miller of 86 Oakland Avenue 

asked if the drainage review has been completed and was told yes, the CEI review is complete. Brian Egan of 39 

Broadway asked if the highway department had signed off on the waiver. It was noted DPW deferred to the review 

of CEI regarding this waiver. The Board voted to accept waiver request #1.     

        Roll Call Vote: 

         Ken Blanchard – Yes 

         Bernie Campbell – Yes 

         Meaghan Neville-Dunne – Yes 

 

#2 Waiver Request – Requirement - Paved sidewalks shall be constructed along the full length of both sides of every 

subdivision way, except that the Planning Board, at its own volition when deemed necessary for public safety or 

convenience, may waive construction along one side of the way and may require the developer to install a sidewalk 

of similar length, at a maximum, along a neighboring public way. Requested – A paved sidewalk is only proposed 

along one side of the proposed roadway. Board member Meaghan Neville-Dunne asked what mitigation is being 

offered. Board member Bernie Campbell stated the cost of mitigation for sidewalk waivers needs to be reviewed. Mr. 

Morse stated they will agree to an amount to be listed in the decision. The Vice Chair asked for any public comments 

regarding the above waiver. Liam Finn of 39 Broadway asked that the sidewalk be extended to terminate at the 

driveway of lot 1. Mr. Morse said that change will be made. The Board voted to accept waiver request #2.  

         Roll Call Vote: 

         Ken Blanchard – Yes 

         Bernie Campbell – Yes 

         Meaghan Neville-Dunne – Yes 

 

#3 Waiver Request – Requirement - Drainage pipes shall have a minimum cover of two and one-half (2 ½) feet 

unless otherwise approved by the BPW. Requested – The drainage pipes connecting catch basins 5 & 6 to drainage 

manhole 4 and the drainage pipe connecting drainage manhole 4 to headwall 2 have been designed with one and 

one-half (1 ½ ) feet of cover. Mr. Morse explained the pipe being proposed is stronger and will handle 1 foot less 

cover. The Vice Chair asked for any public comments regarding the above waiver. Liam Finn of 39 Broadway asked 

if the pipe would be more likely to freeze with less cover. Mr. Morse explained the pipes don’t hold standing water 

and are drainage pipes exposed to open air so freezing is not a concern. It was noted that the DPW was ok with 

waivers #2 to #6. Cory Miller of 86 Oakland Avenue asked will there be additional runoff off now that the road will 

be 26’ instead of 24’ due to the withdrawal of another waiver. Mr. Morse stated the storm water calculations were 

based on a 26’ roadway. The Board voted to accept waiver request #3.       

         Roll Call Vote: 

         Ken Blanchard – Yes 

         Bernie Campbell – Yes 

         Meaghan Neville-Dunne – Yes 

 

#5 Waiver Request – Requirement - Turnarounds shall be provided with a central circular island of twenty-four (24) 

foot radius minimum. The paved roadway width around said circular island shall be twenty-nine (29) feet for minor 

streets and thirty-one (31) feet for major streets. The circular island shall have granite edging and be landscaped with 

low lying, low maintenance shrubs and other approved plantings and/or trees. Requested – Eliminate the circular 

island from the turnaround area. Board member David Traggorth stated although he is not a voting member for this 



 

 Planning Board Meeting  6/28/21 

case, he believes the waiver of the turnaround island sets precedent, and if the Board doesn’t think the islands are 

necessary, the bylaw should be changed. Board members Bernie Campbell and Meaghan Neville-Dunne agreed the 

landscape island should remain. Mr. Morse noted the island is in the right of way and once street acceptance occurs, 

the Town will maintain it. The Vice Chair asked for any public comments regarding the above waiver, seeing and 

hearing none. The Board voted to reject waiver request #5.   Roll Call Vote: 

         Ken Blanchard – No 

         Bernie Campbell – No 

         Meaghan Neville-Dunne – No 

 

#7 Waiver Request – Requirement - Driveway curb openings shall not be located within sixty (60) feet of the point of 

intersection of the center lines of intersecting streets. On corner lots, driveway curb openings shall not be located 

within sixty (60) feet of the point of intersection of the extended waylines of the intersecting ways. Requested – The 

driveway curb cut location for the existing home at #39 Broadway would be provided at a forty (40) foot setback 

from the intersection of the centerlines of Broadway and Road A. The driveway curb cut for the existing home at #39 

Broadway would be provided with a 2-ft. setback from the extension of the Road A “Way Line” to the curb cut. Mr. 

Morse explained the arrangement to the Board and showed a plan detailing it. The Vice Chair asked for any public 

comments regarding the above waiver. Noel Frattasio of 87 Broadway expressed concern about the dangers of the 

area of Broadway where the proposed road will be including the S curve of the road, the steep grade and the 

intersection of Oakland Avenue in close proximity. Mr. Frattasio also questions what criteria the applicant has to 

meet to be allowed to request a waiver. The Vice Chair stated waiver requests are allowed under the subdivision 

rules and regulations. Cory Miller of 86 Oakland Avenue questioned what the purpose of the 60 foot requirement is 

and also asked if the owner of the driveway of #39 Broadway should get a say in the waiver process. Mr. Miller also 

question why the waiver was requested at the last minute. Ms. Stickney explained she discovered the need for the 

additional waiver while reviewing the bylaw and notified Mr. Morse. Ms. Stickney also noted that a large portion of 

the end of #39 Broadway’s driveway is within the road layout of Broadway and is not owned by the resident. Mr. 

Morse explained the applicant offered to move the driveway of #39 Broadway into the subdivision to exit onto the 

new proposed road; however, the resident declined this offer. Board member David Traggorth suggested the idea of 

moving the driveway of #39 Broadway to the right, farther away from the proposed road. Mr. Traggorth also thinks 

the Board would benefit from an explanation regarding the reason for the 60’ requirement. Mr. Miller stated the 

need for a waiver should have to be self-identified by the applicant and questioned the applicant’s motives for not 

requesting it earlier. Mr. Miller also mentioned the frontage on Broadway was inadequate in the past and questioned 

why it’s acceptable now. Mr. Morse stated he was unaware of the need for the additional waiver prior to Ms. 

Stickney pointing it out to him. Ms. Stickney stated frontage is not a requirement for the entrance to a subdivision as 

the proposed road makes the frontage for each lot, and the waiver being requested is not for lack of frontage. Brian 

Egan of 39 Broadway questioned what the problem was in the past with frontage that would not allow the 

development of the property but now is acceptable. Ms. Stickney again stated the requested waiver is not for 

frontage and is solely for distance from driveway to intersection. Daniel Bradford of 64 Oakland Avenue would like 

the DPW’s input on the waiver. Mr. Miller asked if the plan will need to be re-drawn now that the waiver for the cul-

da-sac island was denied. Ms. Stickney stated the plans were drawn with the island in place. After further 

discussion, the Board agreed they would like to continue the hearing to the next meeting and get an answer 

regarding the reasoning for the required 60’ distance between driveway and intersection. With no objection from the 

applicant, the Board voted to extend the deadline for a decision to August 1, 2021.  

        Roll Call Vote: 

         Ken Blanchard – Yes 

         Bernie Campbell – Yes 

         Meaghan Neville-Dunne – Yes 

     

 



 

 Planning Board Meeting  6/28/21 

The Board voted to continue the hearing to July 12, 2021 at 7 PM. Roll Call Vote: 

        Ken Blanchard – Yes 

        Bernie Campbell – Yes 

        Meaghan Neville-Dunne – Yes 

Administrative 

The Board voted to forgo the discussion regarding the Board’s application forms and add it to the July 12, 2021 

agenda.        Roll Call Vote: 

         Ken Blanchard – Yes 

         Bernie Campbell – Yes 

         Meaghan Neville-Dunne – Yes 

         David Traggorth – Yes 

         Tony Cavallaro - Yes 

Adjournment  

The meeting ended and adjourned at 8:44 pm.     Roll Call Vote:   

        Ken Blanchard – Yes 

        Bernie Campbell – Yes 

        Meaghan Neville-Dunne – Yes 

        David Traggorth - Yes 

        Tony Cavallaro - Yes 

Next Meetings  

Monday, July 12 & July 26, 2021 

Monday, August 9 & August 23, 2021 

 


